
Agenda

Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel

Friday, 10 May 2019, 10.00 am
County Hall, Worcester

All County Councillors are invited to attend and participate

Worcestershire County Council

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording or 
Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic 

Services on telephone number 01905 844963 or by emailing 
democraticservices@worcestershire.gov.uk

Find out more online:
www.worcestershire.gov.uk

mailto:democraticservices@worcestershire.gov.uk


DISCLOSING INTERESTS

There are now 2 types of interests:
'Disclosable pecuniary interests' and 'other disclosable interests'

WHAT IS A 'DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST' (DPI)?

 Any employment, office, trade or vocation carried on for profit or gain 
 Sponsorship by a 3rd party of your member or election expenses
 Any contract for goods, services or works between the Council and you, a firm where 

you are a partner/director, or company in which you hold shares
 Interests in land in Worcestershire (including licence to occupy for a month or longer)
 Shares etc (with either a total nominal value above £25,000 or 1% of the total issued 

share capital) in companies with a place of business or land in Worcestershire.

      NB Your DPIs include the interests of your spouse/partner as well as you

WHAT MUST I DO WITH A DPI?
 Register it within 28 days and 
 Declare it where you have a DPI in a matter at a particular meeting 

- you must not participate and you must withdraw.
      NB It is a criminal offence to participate in matters in which you have a DPI

WHAT ABOUT 'OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS'?
 No need to register them but
 You must declare them at a particular meeting where:

 You/your family/person or body with whom you are associated have 
a pecuniary interest in or close connection with the matter under discussion.

WHAT ABOUT MEMBERSHIP OF ANOTHER AUTHORITY OR PUBLIC BODY?
You will not normally even need to declare this as an interest. The only exception is where the 
conflict of interest is so significant it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest.

DO I HAVE TO WITHDRAW IF I HAVE A DISCLOSABLE INTEREST WHICH ISN'T A DPI?
Not normally. You must withdraw only if it:

 affects your pecuniary interests OR 
relates to a planning or regulatory matter

 AND it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

DON'T FORGET
 If you have a disclosable interest at a meeting you must disclose both its existence 

and nature – 'as noted/recorded' is insufficient   
 Declarations must relate to specific business on the agenda 

- General scattergun declarations are not needed and achieve little
 Breaches of most of the DPI provisions are now criminal offences which may be 

referred to the police which can on conviction by a court lead to fines up to £5,000 
and disqualification up to 5 years

  Formal dispensation in respect of interests can be sought in appropriate cases.

Simon Mallinson Head of Legal and Democratic Services July 2012       WCC/SPM summary/f



Agenda produced and published by the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, County Hall, Spetchley 
Road, Worcester WR5 2NP. To obtain further information or hard copies of this agenda, please contact 
Alyson Grice 01905 844962/Samantha Morris 01905 844963 email: scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk

All the above reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website here

Date of Issue: Thursday 2 May 2019

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Friday, 10 May 2019, 10.00 am, County Hall, Worcester

Membership
Councillors: 
Mrs F M Oborski (Chairman), Mrs J A Potter (Vice Chairman), Ms P Agar, Mr T Baker-Price, 
Mr R W Banks, Ms R L Dent, Mr P M McDonald, Mr S J Mackay and Ms T L Onslow

Co-opted Church Representatives (for education matters)
Bryan Allbut (Church of England)

Parent Governor Representatives (for education matters)
Vacancy

Agenda
Item No Subject Page No

1 Apologies and Welcome

2 Declaration of Interest and of any Party Whip

3 Public Participation
Members of the public wishing to take part should notify the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services in writing or by e-mail indicating the 
nature and content of their proposed participation no later than 9.00am 
on the working day before the meeting (in this case 9 May 2019).  
Enquiries can be made through the telephone number/e-mail address 
below.

4 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Previous Meeting
(previously circulated)

5 Commissioning a 0-19 Prevention and Early Intervention Service To follow

6 Children Who Are Educated 'Otherwise' 1 - 8

7 Work Programme 2018/19 9 - 14

mailto:scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/democratic-services/minutes-and-agendas.aspx
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/democratic-services/minutes-and-agendas.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 6
 

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 P a g e  | 1

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
PANEL
10 MAY 2019

CHILDREN WHO ARE EDUCATED ‘OTHERWISE’

Summary

1. The Assistant Director – Education and Skills and the Senior Education Adviser 
for Vulnerable Children have been invited to the meeting to brief Members on 
provision for children who are educated ‘otherwise’, with a specific focus on elective 
home education and alternative provision.

Background

2. In accordance with s7 Education Act 1996, parents are responsible for providing 
their child with a suitable education either by regular school attendance or 
otherwise1 when their child reaches compulsory school age2. In most cases parents 
choose to send their children to publicly funded schools but others may choose to 
send their child to Independent Settings or Elect to Home Educate (“EHE”) their 
child. In specific circumstances, for example where a child has an Education Health 
and Care Plan, has medical needs or the child has been Permanently Excluded 
from school, the Local Authority may have a duty to make alternative arrangements 
for the child but, unless subject to specific circumstances3, parents have the right to 
choose how to fulfil their duty.

3. There are currently no legal requirements on parents to inform the Local Authority 
of how they intend to educate their child; however, under s436A of the Education 
Act 1996 Local Authorities must make arrangements to identify, as far as reasonably 
possible to do so, children within their area who are not in receipt of a suitable 
education. This means that if a Local Authority receives information about a child 
residing in its area it must always confirm that the child is receiving a suitable 
education and where it cannot confirm the suitability arrangements it must undertake 
reasonable enquiry until it is satisfied that the child is in receipt of a suitable 
education.

4. In 2016 the Education (Pupil Registration) (England)(Amendments) Regulations 
2016 came into force which required schools to inform the Local Authority of any 
child admitted or deleted from their register, in addition to periods of irregular school 
attendance and specific periods of absence. This has not only provided much 
greater opportunity for tracking and monitoring of individual children as well as 
earlier intervention but further enables Local Authorities to examine trends in local 
schools.

1 The term 'otherwise' often refers to children who are not registered to a school but are in receipt of other forms 
of education such as Elective Home Education or Alternative Provision that is not registered with the DFE
2 The Term after their 5th birthday until the end of the academic year (last Friday in June) in which the child 
reaches 16 year old
3 This includes Education Supervision Orders, School Attendance Order or any other Order imposed by the 
Courts.

Page 1



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

5. In light of the changes the Department updated the Statutory Guidance for Local 
Authorities on Children Missing Education (2016). Whilst this is the primary 
guidance relating to children who may not be receiving a suitable education there 
are also other key guidance documents that the Local Authority must have regard 
to:

(i) Statutory

 Exclusions from Maintained Schools, Academies and Pupil Referral Units, 
England, 2017 (Statutory)

 Alternative Provision (2013)
 Ensuring a good education for children who cannot attend school because of 

health needs (2013)
 SEND Code of Practice (2015)
 School Attendance (2018)
 School Admissions Code (2014)

(ii) Non-Statutory

 Elective Home Education (2019)

Local Context 

6. In response to the changes brought about by statute and relevant guidance, the 
Local Authority has been working towards centralising the referral point for any 
professional, schools and member of the public to make referrals to where there are 
educational concerns pertaining to a child’s educational status.

7.  In response to this we have set up a general email address and contact number for 
referrals to be made to: CME@worcestershire.gov.uk

8. On receipt of a referral, there is a Senior Children Missing Education Officer 
working under the direction of the Senior Education Adviser for Vulnerable Learners 
that takes responsibility for tracking and monitoring children but who also ensures that 
appropriate actions are being taken in response to such concerns.  These include:

 Children who have been absent for 10 consecutive days in any given period
 Children with less than 90% attendance in any given period
 Children newly admitted to a school outside the normal point of admission (In 

year Transfers)
 Any child deleted from a school’s register under one of the 15 Regulations
 Any child deleted from an Independent School
 Children who may not have secured a school place for when they reach 

compulsory school age
 Children who are without a school place
 Any other circumstances where there are concerns about a child’s education 

(including where elective home education is not suitable)

9. Each ‘contact’ is recorded and depending on the nature of the ‘contact’ and level of 
concern, the following will be decided:

Page 2

mailto:CME@worcestershire.gov.uk


Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

 That the child is currently in receipt of a suitable education and no further 
action is required.

 The child is at risk of becoming a child missing education and will require 
additional intervention and regular monitoring.

 The child is not confirmed to be in receipt of a suitable education and 
requires immediate action to be taken.

Summary of statutory notifications made by schools to the Local Authority.

10. Below is a table to outline the number of children referred to the Local Authority by 
schools under their statutory duty to notify the Local Authority. The Local Authority has 
assessed each referral to identify where a child is at risk of becoming/has been identified 
as a child missing education.

(FIG 1: No. of Children Missing Education Enquiries)

4 Centralised reporting system became available and formal notification went to schools on 01/02/2019 

2017/18 2018/194

01/09/2018-
01/02/2019

01/02/19- 
15/04/2019

Total

No. of 
Admissions to 
schools 
registers

347 1326 347 1673

683 1505 391 1896No. of 
Children 
Deleted from a 
schools 
register
(resulting in a 
being identified 
as a Child 
Missing 
Education)

(204) (536)

Concerns 
about school 
attendance (10 
day absences/ 
less than 90%)

0 184 135 319

In year 
Applications 
made to 
schools

0 0 103 103

1120 3015 976 3991

Page 3



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

11. The statistics above demonstrate that since the introduction of the Centralised 
Reporting system for concerns relating to children’s educational status the numbers 
have increased. Whilst this increase in itself is not cause for concern, it is enabling the 
Local Authority to have much greater scrutiny over referrals made and creates an 
opportunity for earlier intervention for the purpose of tracking and monitoring.

Elective Home Education (EHE)

12. In Worcestershire, during the academic year of 2017-18, there were 75,339 children 
registered to publicly funded schools; however, there were 944 registered as EHE 
throughout the year. In most cases these children had been deregistered from 
Worcestershire schools, a number were previously on roll to out of county schools and 
others had never previously attended school.

13. Whilst the numbers of children being registered as EHE continues to increase year on 
year as shown in Fig 2. (which is reflective nationally) it is currently difficult to fully 
understand the reasons as to why.

(Fig 2: No. of Children Electively Home Educated in Worcestershire)

14. Regardless of the reason(s) for a parent considering home education, we must 
ensure that those who have elected to do so have access to appropriate information, 
advice and guidance prior to making such a decision, so that they are able to make 
suitable arrangements.  It is also important to ensure that parents are not coerced into 
making such a decision by schools. Furthermore, the Local Authority must ensure it 
promotes high standards in schools and makes arrangements for pupils who may not 
otherwise receive a suitable education if such arrangements were not being made for 
them.7

15. The Local Authority provides impartial information, advice and guidance to parents 
who are considering EHE through a range of publications including the School 
Admissions Policy, but it also encourages parents to seek impartial advice through 

5 Includes year 11s within the relevant year
6 Does not include year 11 within the relevant year
7 S19 Education Act 1996

2005-
06

2006-
07

2007-
08

2008-
09

2009-
10

2010-
11

2011-
12

2012-
13

2013-
14

2014-
15

2015-
16

2016-
17

2017-
18

Total no. of new 
referrals as EHE5 101 136 125 132 144 115 190 191 236 293 296 438 444

% difference by 
academic year - 34.6 -8.8 5.6 9.1 20.1 65.2 0.5 23.5 24.1 1.02 48.0 1.36

Total no. of children 
currently registered 

at end of year6
136 168 188 188 218 219 166 221 287 325 381 530 673

% difference by 
academic year - 23.5 11.9 0 16.0 0.45 -24.2 33.1 29.9 13.2 17.2 39.1 26.9

Total number of 
Children Registered 
within the academic 

year

- 272 293 320 332 333 409 357 457 580 621 819 944

% difference by 
academic year - 7.7 9.2 3.8 0.3 22.8 -12.7 28.0 26.9 7.1 31.9 15.3

Page 4



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

support services including Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Information 
Advice and Support Service (SENDIASS). Whilst SENDIASS are predominantly 
focused on providing support for parents of children with SEND they are also 
concerned with providing parents with information advice and guidance about non- 
curriculum matters. 

16. Once a parent has made the decision to home educate, they will be referred to the 
EHE Officer situated within Babcock Prime. The parent will then be offered a home visit 
within 12 weeks, which will provide the EHE Officer with the opportunity to make a 
judgement of the suitability of the education being made for the child in accordance 
with their age, aptitude, ability and any special educational needs they may have.

17. Whilst there is no definition of a ‘suitable’ education in English statute law, the 
decision made regarding the provision of ‘suitable’ education will be based on the 
particular circumstances of each child and the evidence of the education provided. As 
a minimum, the EHE Officer would expect to see evidence of arrangements for the 
development of numeracy, literacy and opportunities to adopt some other mode of 
living, and to be capable of living on an autonomous basis so far as he or she chooses 
to do so.

Alternative Provision (“AP”)

18. ‘Alternative Provision’ is the broad term used where children are accessing 
provision for a specific purpose. For school it is used by schools for three main 
purposes:

 A short term intervention used to ‘modify’ a pupil’s behaviour.8
 A short term intervention used in response to a child’s medical needs.
 A longer term arrangement to ‘compliment’9 a child’s programme of study.

19. Alternative Provision is arranged by the Local Authority, however, has a much wider 
use but each circumstance will satisfy s19 Education Act 1996 (“S19”): a Local 
Authority’s duty to arrange provision which is pupils who, because of exclusion, illness 
or other reasons, would not otherwise receive suitable education.

20. In all instances, both schools and the Local Authority must ensure that the 
provision is suitable and regularly monitored and appropriate safeguard checks carried 
out. This includes ensuring that provision is good quality, registered and compliant with 
Statutory Guidance and local policies. There are instances, for example for students 
with medical needs, where the provision may not be registered and it is therefore 
important that those responsible for commissioning Alternative Provision have regard 
to their wider safeguarding duties, especially in relation to unregistered schools.

21. Within Worcestershire, there are 6 core registered Alternative Provision Academies 
and Pupil Referral Units (PRU) that are commissioned by schools and the Local 
Authority and are for pupils who, because of exclusion, illness or other reasons, would 
not otherwise receive suitable education. It includes education arranged by schools for 
pupils on a fixed period exclusion and pupils being directed by schools to off-site 
provision to improve their behaviour.  They are:

8 S100/S29 Education Act 2002 Maintained Schools/General Powers set out in Clause 5 of the Articles of 
Association for Academies- no parental consent required
9 Schools duty to provide a ‘broad and balanced’ curriculum- consent required

Page 5



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

 The Beacon Primary PRU 
 Perryfields Primary PRU 
 Aspire Alternative Provision Secondary Free School
 Continu Plus Alternative Provision Secondary Free School 
 The Forge Secondary PRU
 Newbridge Alternative Provision Academy.
 Medical Education Service delivered by Babcock Prime

22. However, there are other institutions that schools and the Local Authority use for 
example, Independent schools, Online Tuition Services and Bespoke provision which 
are commissioned individually to meet specific needs.

23. The Local Authority currently has responsibility for identifying children who require 
provision made for them under ‘S19’ and monitoring the children in the setting/ 
provision they have been referred to. This year we have received 153 referrals 
(15/04/2019) requiring arrangements to be put in place for students and this is 
summarised below:

“S19” No. of children
Permanent Exclusion (6th day provision) 85

Provision arranged for children with Medical Needs 20

Other Circumstances requiring LA intervention to ensure suitable 
arrangements are in place

48

Total 153

24. Not every referral has resulted in the need to access to alternative provision; 
instead some cases have required, additional funding to be given to schools or 
alternative transport has been put in to meet specific needs; however, in all instances 
this has prevented children from becoming Children Missing Education.

Purpose of the Meeting

25. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel is asked to:

 consider the information in the report;
 determine whether it would wish to carry out any further scrutiny and what the focus 

of this scrutiny should be; and
 agree whether it would wish to make any comments to the Cabinet Member with 

Responsibility for Education and Skills.

Specific Contact Points for this report

Nick Wilson
Interim Assistant Director – Education & Skills 
Nwilson2@worcestershire.gov.uk
Tel 01905 846328 

Alyson Grice/Samantha Morris, Overview and Scrutiny Officers Tel:
01905 844962/844963

Page 6

mailto:Nwilson2@worcestershire.gov.uk


Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019 

Email: scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Director of Children, Families and 
Communities) there are no background papers relating to the subject matter of this report.

Page 7

mailto:scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 7 
 

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
PANEL
10 MAY 2019

WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

Summary

1. From time to time the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel will 
review its work programme and consider which issues should be investigated as a 
priority.

Background

2. Worcestershire County Council has a rolling annual Work Programme for 
Overview and Scrutiny.  The 2018/19 Work Programme has been developed by 
taking into account issues still to be completed from 2017/18, the views of Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel Members and the findings of the budget scrutiny process.

3. Suggested issues have been prioritised using scrutiny feasibility criteria in order 
to ensure that topics are selected subjectively and the 'added value' of a review is 
considered right from the beginning.

4. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel is responsible for 
scrutiny of:

 Children's Social Care and Families
 Public Health relating to Families
 Education and Skills

5. The Work Programme was agreed by Council on 8 November 2018. 

Refresh of the Scrutiny Work Programme 2019/20

6. Plans are now being made to refresh the Scrutiny Work Programme for 2019/20.  
Throughout May and June, Members and other stakeholders will be invited to 
suggest topics for future scrutiny.  Following July Panel meetings, informal sessions 
will be held where Panel Members will be asked to prioritise these suggestions.

7. The Overview and Scrutiny Performance Board will receive feedback on the 
Panels’ discussions and agree the final scrutiny work programme at its July meeting.  
Council will be asked to agree the Work Programme in September.

Dates of Future Meetings

 4 June 2019
 17 July 2019
 25 September 2019

Page 9



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 10 May 2019

 13 November 2019

Purpose of the Meeting

8. The Panel may like to consider the 2018/19 Work Programme and consider 
whether it would wish to make any amendments.  The Panel will wish to retain the 
flexibility to take into account any urgent issues which may arise.

Supporting Information

 Appendix 1 – Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel Work 
Programme 2018/19

Contact Points

Specific Contact Points for this Report
Samantha Morris/Alyson Grice, Overview and Scrutiny Officers, Tel: 01905 844963/ 
844962
Email: scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report:

 Agenda and minutes of Council on 8 November 2018 – available on the Council 
website here

 Agenda and Minutes of OSPB on 26 September 2018 - available on the Council 
website here

Page 10

mailto:scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk
http://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2069&Ver=4
http://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2171&Ver=4


Appendix 1

2018/19 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME: Children & Families Overview and Scrutiny Panel

The main focus of the Panel's work is to follow up the Ofsted report and the implementation of the Service 
Improvement Plan, and Worcester Children First (WCF) the Alternative Delivery Model which are standing 
items on all agendas.

Updates on the Service Improvement Plan and Ofsted monitoring visits to include consideration of the 
workload of social workers (including travel time and key workers) and considering comparative figures in 
relation to performance of agency staff, recruitment and retention and caseloads

Date of Meeting Issue for Scrutiny Date of Last Report Notes/Follow-up Action

10 May 2019 Commissioning a Prevention and Early 
Intervention Service for Children and Young 
People

11 January 2019 The Director of Public Health agreed to 
come to a future meeting to give full 
briefing on the service

10 May 2019 Alternative Provision and Education at Home 
(including the regulation of providers of 
alternative provision, the role of the County 
Council/Babcock and the challenges and 
future development of the service(s))

N/A

4 June 2019 Overnight Unit-based Short Breaks for 
Children with Disabilities – ongoing Scrutiny

8 August 2018 An in-depth Scrutiny was also carried 
out and reported to the OSPB on 26 
April 2018

4 June 2019 Performance and In-Year Budget Monitoring 
Quarter 4 2019 (January – March)

6 March 2019

17 July 2019 School Attainment at KS2 9 October 2018
7 February 2018

Progress actions from 9 October 2018 
meeting with Schools

17 July 2019 Educational Outcomes for children and
young people educated in Worcestershire 
schools for 2018

7 February 2018

P
age 11



17 July 2019 Update on Worcestershire Children First 23 November 2017
25 January 2018
22 March 2018
16 November 2018
29 January 2019

11 September 2019 Review of the service delivery contract for 
Worcester Children First

23 November 2017
25 January 2018
22 March 2018
16 November 2018
29 January 2019
17 July 2019

11 September 2019 Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
Annual Report

13 September 2017
14 September 2018 

11 September 2019 Performance and In-Year Budget Monitoring
Quarter 1 (April-June)

13 November 2019 School Organisation Plan (2019-24) N/A Plan was 
circulated to the 
Panel February 2019

The Plan was agreed by Cabinet on 13 
December 2018 and will be refreshed 
in December 2019

13 November 2019 
and January 2020

Budget Scrutiny 16 November 2018
14 January 2018

13 November 2019 Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 (June-
Sept)

February/March 
2020

Performance and In-Year Budget Monitoring
Quarter 3 (October – December)

June/July 2020 Performance and In-Year Budget Monitoring
Quarter 4 (January - March)

Possible Future Items

TBC Update on the Children's Social Care 
Service Improvement Plan – Ofsted 
Monitoring Visit Feedback

14 August 2017
24 October 2017
22 March 2018

To be scheduled once date of next 
Ofsted visit is known.  This will be a full 

P
age 12



16 May 2018
14 September 2018
16 November 2018
6 March 2019

inspection and likely to take place 
spring 2019.

TBC Update on the Joint Local Area SEND 
Written Statement of Action/ Improvement 
Plan

16 May 2018
8 August 2018
6 March 2019

TBC Children's centres 7 February 2018
14 September 2018

TBC Development of Edge of Care Services 11 January 2019 Suggested during the Budget 
discussion

TBC Sufficiency work including private residential 
provision used by the council (as suggested 
by CD)

11 January 2019 Suggested by the Director of Children, 
Families and Communities during the 
Performance Monitoring discussion

TBC Placements:
 types of placements in 

Worcestershire 
 emergency placements
 costs
 availability

N/A

Standing Items  Performance and In-year Budget 
Monitoring

 Quality Assurance
 Safeguarding
 Budget Scrutiny Process

TBC

Scrutiny Champions Safeguarding – Cllr Tom Baker-Price
Education – Cllr Fran Oborski
Looked After Children - Cllr Jane Potter
Finance/budget – Cllr Bob Banks

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Children Who Are Educated 'Otherwise'
	7 Work Programme 2018/19
	item 7 app 1 Work Programme


